THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Perry H. Gravely, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2018-CP-40-05124

Appellate Case No. 2020-001065

RECEIVED

Dec 07 2020

SC Court of Appeals

Trisha Gibbons, Respondent,

v.

Aerotek, Inc., Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Patrick D. Quinn
Nelson Mullins Riley & Scarborough LLP
1320 Main Street / 17th Floor
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 255-9513

Bryson M. Geer
Nelson Mullins Riley & Scarborough LLP
151 Meeting Street / 6th Floor
Charleston, SC 29401
(843) 853-5200

William E. Corum (*pro hac vice*)
Megan A. Scheiderer (*pro hac vice*)
Husch Blackwell LLP
4801 Main Street, Suite 1000

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether a prevailing party defendant can seek contractual attorney's fees in the action in which the fees are incurred, without having pled a counterclaim for such fees, if the plaintiff brought a claim for breach of the same contract under which the defendant seeks its fees, and where the defendant did request an award of attorney's fees in its Answer, or whether such a defendant must file a separate lawsuit asserting an original claim for its attorney's fees.
- II. Whether Aerotek had an obligation to authenticate the contract under which it seeks contractual, prevailing party attorney's fees and, if so, whether it did so sufficiently.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 1, 2018, Plaintiff/Respondent Trisha Gibbons ("Gibbons") initiated the present action in the Court of Common Pleas for Richland County, South Carolina. (R. pp. 11–12). Gibbons brought the action against: (1) Defendant Schneider Electric USA, Inc. ("Schneider Electric"); and (2) Defendant-Appellant Aerotek, Inc. ("Aerotek"). (R. p. 12). Gibbons alleged Defendants: (1) violated S.C. Code Ann. § 41-1-70 by terminating her employment because she complied with a trial subpoena; and (2) breached a written employment agreement by not increasing Gibbons's rate of pay after she had worked at Schneider Electric for ninety days. (R. pp. 14–15). Aerotek filed its Answer to the Complaint on November 21, 2018. (R. p. 17).

On September 11, 2019, Aerotek filed a Motion for Summary Judgment with respect to both claims Gibbons asserted against it. (R. pp. 33–34, 37–38). With respect to Count I of the Complaint (*i.e.*, the claim Defendants violated § 41-1-70), Aerotek—a staffing company—argued that it played no role in the decision of its client, Schneider Electric, to terminate Gibbons's temporary assignment at Schneider Electric. (R. pp. 44–48). With respect to Count II of the Complaint (*i.e.*, the claim Defendants breached Gibbons's written employment agreement),

Aerotek argued that Gibbons's written employment agreement did not call for a pay increase after ninety days on the job. (R. pp. 49–51).

On September 18, 2019, following a mediation held on September 13, 2019, at which Gibbons and Schneider Electric reached a settlement, the parties stipulated to the dismissal of the claims Gibbons asserted against Schneider Electric. (R. pp. 1, 26). On October 28, 2019, Gibbons filed a Memorandum in Opposition to the portion of Aerotek's Motion for Summary Judgment directed to Count I of the Complaint (*i.e.*, the claim Defendants violated § 41-1-70). (R. p. 89). On October 29, 2019, the only remaining parties (Gibbons and Aerotek) stipulated to the dismissal of Count II of the Complaint (*i.e.*, the claim Defendants breached Gibbons's written employment agreement). (R. p. 30).

On January 3, 2020, the Honorable Courtney Clyburn-Pope denied Aerotek's Motion for Summary Judgment with respect to Count I of the Complaint. (R. p. 5, 7). The case then proceeded to a jury trial, which was held on January 29–30, 2020, before the Honorable Perry H. Gravely. (R. pp. 9–10). At the close of the evidence, Aerotek made a Motion for Directed Verdict on the basis that Gibbons failed to prove any elements supporting her § 41-1-70 claim. (R. p. 9). Judge Gravely granted Aerotek's motion and dismissed the case, finding that Gibbons failed to provide the trial court with facts to support the § 41-1-70 claim. (*Id.*).

On February 13, 2020, Aerotek filed a Motion for Attorneys' Fees and Costs based on a provision of the written employment agreement under which Gibbons brought Count II of the Complaint. (R. pp. 98, 101). On March 6, 2020, Gibbons filed a Memorandum in Opposition to Aerotek's motion and a supporting Affidavit (executed before Aerotek filed its motion), in which Gibbons stated she has no memory of receiving or reviewing the written employment agreement at issue. (R. p. 153, 169 ¶ 5).

On April 27, 2020, Judge Gravely held a telephonic hearing on the Motion for Attorneys' Fees and Costs.¹ (R. p. 1). On June 17, 2020, Judge Gravely electronically-signed an Order denying the motion. (R. p. 4). Said Order was entered and electronically filed on June 18, 2020, when Aerotek first received written notice of entry of the order. (R. p. 1).

In the Order, Judge Gravely provided two grounds for denying Aerotek's Motion for Attorneys' Fees and Costs. (R. pp. 2–3). First, Judge Gravely held that Aerotek was required to plead its entitlement to contractual attorneys' fees and costs in its Answer and/or a Counterclaim, but that Aerotek did not do so adequately. (*Id.*). Second, Judge Gravely held that Aerotek did not adequately authenticate the written employment agreement upon which its Motion for Attorneys' Fees and Costs is based. (R. p. 3).

On July 20, 2020, Aerotek served Gibbons with a Notice of Appeal with respect to the Order denying the Motion for Attorneys' Fees and Costs. (R. pp. 253, 261). Aerotek filed the Notice of Appeal with the trial court on July 30, 2020. (R. p. 253). The present appeal concerns only Aerotek's *entitlement* to attorneys' fees and costs under the parties' written employment agreement. The appeal does not concern the *amount* to which Aerotek is entitled or the *reasonableness* of the fees and costs Aerotek is seeking. Aerotek contends those issues should be decided by the trial court upon remand.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“This Court reviews all questions of law *de novo*.” *Fesmire v. Digh*, 385 S.C. 296, 302 (2009). Relevant to the first issue on appeal, when reviewing a trial court order assessing the sufficiency of the pleadings, “the appellate court applies the same standard of review as the trial

¹ As Aerotek's counsel informed the Clerk of the Court of Appeals in correspondence dated August 13, 2020, the telephonic hearing was held without a court reporter and, therefore, there is no transcript of the proceedings.

court.” *Dawkins v. Union Hosp. Dist.*, 408 S.C. 171, 176 (2014). In other words, the review is *de novo*. Relevant to the second issue on appeal, at least one South Carolina court has included an authenticity determination among the evidentiary rulings typically subject to an abuse of discretion standard. *State v. Green*, 427 S.C. 223, 229 (Ct. App. 2019); *but see M/V Am. Queen v. San Diego Marine Constr. Corp.*, 709 F.2d 1483, 1491 (9th Cir. 1983) (“Whether evidence is properly authenticated is a question of law subject to *de novo* review.”); *State v. Crawley*, 217 N.C.App. 509, 515 (2011) (“A trial court’s determination as to whether a document has been sufficiently authenticated is reviewed *de novo* on appeal as a question of law.”).

ARGUMENTS

I. The trial court erred both in holding Aerotek had an obligation to plead its entitlement to attorney’s fees, and in finding that Aerotek did not do so sufficiently to pursue recovery of its attorney’s fees in the present action.

In Count II of her Complaint, Gibbons alleged that Defendants breached the written employment agreement she entered into with Aerotek. The written agreement upon which Gibbons relied in her Complaint includes the contractual attorney’s fees provision upon which Aerotek based the Motion for Attorneys’ Fees and Costs it filed after the trial court anointed it the prevailing party in this action. Further, in its Answer, Aerotek specifically requested an award of attorney’s fees. Contrary to the trial court’s order denying its motion, Aerotek was not required to plead anything further.

Under Rule 8(a), “[a] pleading which sets forth a cause of action, whether an original claim, counterclaim, cross-claim, or third-party claim, shall contain . . . a short and plain statement of the facts showing that the pleader is entitled to relief.” Rule 8(a), SCRCF (emphasis added). The trial court correctly noted that “[t]he Answer did not contain a counterclaim against the Plaintiff seeking attorneys’ fees.” (R. p. 2). However, the trial court essentially held that the Answer *needed* to include such a counterclaim in order for Aerotek to seek its attorney’s fees in the present action:

“Since Aerotek is seeking a judgment against the Plaintiff for more than \$200,000, the Court finds that the pleadings must comply with Rule 8(a), SCRPC.” *Id.* The upshot of the trial court’s finding is that, because Aerotek did not assert a counterclaim, it must now file a separate lawsuit against Gibbons asserting an original claim for its attorney’s fees. That result is not supported by South Carolina law.

In *S.C. Elec. & Gas Co. v. Hartough*, 375 S.C. 541 (Ct. App. 2007), SCE & G brought a declaratory judgment action based on its option contract with Hartough. *Id.* at 544–46. A special referee determined the option was valid and enforceable, and then awarded SCE & G its attorney’s fees and costs under the contract’s prevailing party attorney’s fees provision. *Id.* at 546, 550. On appeal, Hartough argued “SCE & G is barred from recovering attorney’s fees because SCE & G did not specifically plead it was seeking attorney’s fees pursuant to the option contract but merely stated it sought attorney’s fees for bringing the action.” *Id.* at 550. In other words, “SCE & G did not specifically plead the contract between the parties as the basis for its [attorney’s fees] claim.” *Id.*

However, “even if SCE & G did not specifically plead attorney’s fees pursuant to the contract, [the Court of Appeals] [found] the special referee properly awarded attorney’s fees.” *Id.* at 551.

SCE & G commenced the action in order to determine the validity of the option pursuant to the contract. The contract permitted any prevailing party to seek attorney’s fees in an action to enforce any right under the contract. In addition, the pleadings requested attorney’s fees. Therefore, Hartough was apprised SCE & G would be seeking a recovery of fees if successful.

Id. Accordingly, the Court of Appeals affirmed the order of the special referee awarding attorney’s fees and costs. *Id.*

In *Utilities Const. Co., Inc. v. Wilson*, 321 S.C. 244 (Ct. App. 1996), the Court of Appeals arrived at a similar result in favor of a defendant. There, an electrical contractor brought a mechanics lien claim against a property owner for which the contractor had done work. *Id.* at 246. The trial court directed a verdict in favor of the owner because the contractor failed to timely serve notice of the mechanic's lien. *Id.* The trial court then awarded the owner attorney's fees under the mechanic's lien statute, which provided that attorney's fees incurred in enforcing or defending against a lien may be recovered by the prevailing party." *Id.* at 246–47.

On appeal, the contractor argued “[the owner] did not request attorney fees in her answer and is therefore barred from recovering them.” *Id.* at 247. Even though the owner's answer did not include any request for fees whatsoever (not even a general request for fees failing to mention the specific basis for fees), the Court of Appeals “[found] no prejudice to [the contractor] because it had notice of the potential for an award of attorney fees given the mandatory language of the mechanic's lien statutes.” *Id.*

In *Calland v. Carr*, No. 14-0420, 2015 WL 4394977 (D.S.C. July 16, 2015), the federal district court relied upon *Wilson* in deciding a motion for attorney's fees brought under South Carolina's Residential Property Condition Disclosure Act (“Disclosure Act”). *Id.* at *1–3. The district court also cited *NGM Ins. Co. v. Carolina's Power Wash & Painting, LLC*, No. 08-3378, 2010 WL 3258134 (D.S.C. July 6, 2010), in which “the magistrate judge concluded [in a report and recommendation adopted by the district court] that **where the right to attorney's fees could only be determined after judgment, i.e., where they ‘were not required to be proved at trial as an element of damages,’ the right to attorney fees did not need to be pled in the answer.**” *Id.* at *2 (quoting *NGM*, 2010 WL 3258134 at *2) (emphasis added). “In light of *Wilson* and *NGM*, the [*Calland*] court [found] that the [defendants] did not need to specifically plead attorney's fees

in their answer.” *Id.* at *3. Based in part on that determination, the district court granted the defendants’ motion for attorney’s fees under the South Carolina Disclosure Act. *Id.* at *6.

Finally, in *Baird Pac. West v. Blue Water Sunset Park, Inc.*, No. 2004-UP-011, 2004 WL 6248287 (Ct. App. 2004), which Aerotek cited in support of its Motion for Attorneys’ Fees and Costs, the Court of Appeals found that, “although [defendant] Blue Water did not make its request for attorney fees in its pleadings, its claim is not barred under the circumstances of this case.” *Id.* at *4. In the order denying Aerotek’s Motion for Attorneys’ Fees and Costs, the trial court dismissed *Baird* as an “unpublished opinion . . . [with] no precedential value.” (R. p. 2). The trial court also distinguished *Baird* on procedural grounds. *Id.* However, the fact remains that *Baird* lends support, albeit with persuasive and not precedential value, to the idea that attorney’s fees may be awarded even when the defendant did not request fees in its answer, much less assert a counterclaim with respect to its attorney’s fees.

Under the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, depending on whether its potential counterclaim “arises out of the transaction or occurrence that is the subject matter of the [plaintiff’s] claim,” the defendant either *shall* or *may* “state as a counterclaim any claim which **at the time of serving the pleading** the pleader has against any opposing party.” Rule 13(a), (b), SCRPC (emphasis added). Aerotek’s right to attorney’s fees as the prevailing party in this matter could only be determined after entry of a judgment establishing that it did, in fact, prevail. That occurred no earlier than February 2, 2020, when the trial court granted Aerotek’s Motion for Directed Verdict. (R. pp. 8–10). Therefore, Aerotek had no basis upon which to assert a counterclaim at the time it served its Answer to Gibbons’s Complaint, fourteen months earlier, on November 21, 2018. (R. p. 17).

Moreover, under the above authorities, Aerotek had no obligation either to assert a counterclaim with respect to its attorney's fees, or to identify the specific basis upon which it was requesting fees (*i.e.*, Gibbons's written employment agreement). In her Complaint, Gibbons asserted a claim for breach of the very agreement upon which Aerotek later moved for its attorney's fees. (R. p. 15). In its Answer, Aerotek explicitly requested that the trial court "award Aerotek its attorneys' fees and costs expended." (R. p. 23). Given those two facts, Aerotek pled as much as the prevailing party in *Hartough*, and more than the prevailing parties in *Wilson*, *Calland*, and *Baird*.

Under the circumstances, Aerotek pled all that was necessary to later file its Motion for Attorneys' Fees and Costs after the trial court's order installing Aerotek in the position of prevailing party. Aerotek is not required, as implied in the order on appeal, to file a separate lawsuit against Gibbons asserting an original claim for the attorney's fees it incurred in this action. Therefore, this Court should: (1) reverse the trial court's order denying on procedural grounds Aerotek's Motion for Attorneys' Fees and Costs; and (2) remand the case to the trial court for a substantive ruling on whether and in what amount Aerotek is entitled to an award of attorney's fees and costs.

II. The trial court abused its discretion in calling in to question the authenticity of Gibbons's employment agreement.

Along with its Motion for Attorneys' Fees and Costs, Aerotek provided the trial court with a copy of Gibbons's electronically-signed employment agreement. Aerotek previously authenticated the document, at the summary judgment stage of the litigation, through both deposition and affidavit testimony. In opposition to Aerotek's Motion for Attorneys' fees and Costs, Gibbons submitted an affidavit, in which she stated she did not recall—but did not deny—electronically-signing the employment agreement. Due to a change of judges, the trial court may

not have been aware that Aerotek authenticated the employment agreement at summary judgment. For whatever reason, the trial court misinterpreted Gibbons's affidavit testimony as creating an authentication issue it did not realize Aerotek had already resolved. Because the trial court raised the issue *sua sponte*, and for the first time, in its order denying Aerotek's Motion for Attorneys' Fees and Costs, Aerotek did not have an opportunity to address any concern the trial court may have had about authentication. As demonstrated below, however, there was no failure to authenticate that would support the trial court's denial of Aerotek's Motion for Attorneys' Fees and Costs.

A. Aerotek met its burden (if any) to authenticate Gibbons's employment agreement.

In its order denying Aerotek's Motion for Attorneys' Fees and Costs, the trial court suggested that Aerotek had an obligation not only to provide the court with a signed copy of the written agreement upon which the motion was based (*i.e.*, Gibbons's employment agreement), but also to authenticate that agreement. (R. p. 3). The trial court did not cite any authority requiring such authentication. *Id.* Nor did the trial court claim that the obligation to authenticate—if it exists—must be fulfilled through the papers a party submits in support of its motion for attorney's fees. On the contrary, the trial court suggested that the purported obligation to authenticate would have been fulfilled (before Aerotek ever filed its Motion for Attorneys' Fees and Costs) if Gibbons's employment agreement had been “introduced as evidence during the trial of the case.” *Id.*

To the extent Aerotek had one, “the burden to authenticate is not high and requires only that the proponent offer a satisfactory foundation from which the [trier of fact] could reasonably find that the evidence is authentic.” *es Keel, LLC v. Atl. Private Equity Grp., LLC*, 413 S.C. 58, 64 (Ct. App. 2015) (quotation marks and ellipses omitted). “The requirement of authentication . .

. is satisfied by evidence sufficient to support a finding that the matter in question is what its proponent claims.” S.C. R. Evid. 901(a). One way to do that is through “[t]estimony that a matter is what it is claimed to be.” S.C. R. Evid. 901(b)(1).

Leaving aside the fact that Gibbons initiated this lawsuit by filing a Complaint alleging Defendants breached her written employment agreement, Aerotek properly authenticated Gibbons’s employment agreement before filing its Motion for Attorneys’ Fees and Costs, and even before trial. The trial court may not have been aware of the prior authentication, because while Judge Gravely handled both the trial and Aerotek’s Motion for Attorneys’ Fees and Costs, Judge Clyburn-Pope handled Aerotek’s Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. pp. 4, 7, 10).

In the Memorandum in Support of its Motion for Summary Judgment, Aerotek authenticated Gibbons’s employment agreement by identifying the following evidence in the summary judgment record: (1) Gibbons’s deposition testimony (from April 5, 2019) that she electronically-signed the employment agreement online sometime after her in-person interview at Aerotek (R. pp. 61–62, lines 17:4–18:19); and (2) Jason Pritchard’s affidavit testimony, as an Aerotek Employee Relations Manager, that the copy of the employment agreement filed as an exhibit accompanying Aerotek’s Motion for Summary Judgment, and electronically-signed by Gibbons on September 14, 2016, is a true and accurate copy of a record maintained by Aerotek in the normal course of its business (R. pp. 39, 81 ¶ 5(b)). This testimonial evidence is more than sufficient to support a finding that Gibbons’s employment agreement is what Aerotek claims it to be.

B. Gibbons did not dispute the authenticity of her employment agreement.

In her Memorandum in Opposition to Aerotek’s Motion for Summary Judgment, Gibbons did not controvert the fact that she electronically-signed the employment agreement. (R. p. 89). To be fair, that fact pertained more to Aerotek’s argument on Gibbons’s breach of contract claim

(Count II) than to Aerotek's argument on the § 41-1-70 wrongful termination claim (Count I). Rather than address Aerotek's argument on Count II, Gibbons offered to stipulate to the dismissal of Count II shortly before filing her Memorandum in Opposition. (R. p. 96). Nevertheless, on summary judgment, Gibbons provided no evidence whatsoever calling into question the authenticity of her employment agreement.

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