THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Perry H. Gravely, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2018-CP-40-05124
Appellate Case No. 2020-001065

RECEIVED

Dec 01 2020

SC Court of Appeals

Trisha Gibbons Respondent,

v.

Aerotek, Inc., Appellant.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

J. Paul Porter, Esquire (#100723)
Cromer Babb Porter & Hicks, LLC
1418 Laurel Street, Suite A (29201)
Post Office Box 11675
Columbia, South Carolina 29211-11675
Phone: (803) 799-9530
Facsimile: (803) 799-9533
paul@cbphlaw.com

Attorney for Respondent Trisha Gibbons

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

I. APPELLANT FAILED TO PLEAD EVEN BASE FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS ABOUT ITS FEE-SHIFTING AGREEMENT AND HAS WAIVED THE RIGHT TO SEEK ATTORNEY FEES AND COSTS FROM THE PLAINTIFF/RESPONDENT POST-TRIAL.

Aerotek opens its argument on this issue by claiming that Ms. Gibbons' breach of contract claim was based on its fee-shifting contract. (Appellant Brief p. 4). This is false.² Ms. Gibbons' contract claim was based on a job posting by co-defendant Schneider's hiring contractor and comments made by Schneider during onboarding. (R. pp. 250-252), (R. p. 13, ¶ 14). Indeed, the fee-shifting contract does not mention the 90-day wage increase at issue in the contract claim whatsoever. (R. pp. 184-187); (R. p. 39) ("The employment agreement provided for a regular rate of pay of \$12.00/hour. It did not provide that Plaintiff's rate of pay would increase after any particular amount of time on this job."). After this matter was resolved with Schneider, Ms. Gibbons voluntarily stipulated to the dismissal of the contract claim against Aerotek. (R. pp. 30-32).

Turning to the law, the principal purpose of pleadings is to inform the pleader's adversary of legal and factual positions which he will be required to meet on trial. *Shirley's Iron Works, Inc. v. City of Union* 403 S.C. 560, 743 S.E.2d 778 (S.C. 2013); Rule 8(a), SCRPC requires pleadings to contain "a short and plain statement of the facts showing that the pleader is entitled to relief." Rule 8(c), SCRPC provides

In pleading to a preceding pleading a party shall set forth affirmatively the defenses: accord and satisfaction, arbitration and

² Aerotek was corrected on this apparent misunderstanding, and now misstatement, at the telephone hearing on this matter, but persists in claiming the fee-shifting contract was the basis for Ms. Gibbons' breach of contract claim.

award, assumption of risk, condonation, contributory negligence, discharge in bankruptcy, duress, fraud, illegality, injury by fellow servant, **laches**, license, misrepresentation, mistake, **payment**, plene administravit or administration of the estate is closed, recrimination, release, res judicata, statute of frauds, statute of limitations, **waiver**, and any other matter constituting an avoidance or affirmative defense.

(emphasis added). A party, in replying to a preceding pleading, shall affirmatively set forth his defense to the opposing party's complaint. *Madren v. Bradford*, 378 S.C. 187, 661 S.E.2d 390, 393 (Ct. App. 2008).

"The note to Rule 8(c) states that its aim is to 'avoid the 'surprise' defenses permissible under the old general denial answer.'" *Garrison v. Target Corp.*, 429 S.C. 324, 359, 838 S.E.2d 18, 37 (Ct. App. 2020).

The Supreme Court in *Garrison* recently held that it was necessary for a defendant to plead a statutory limitation on punitive damages where questions of fact would affect the limitation on punitive damages. *Garrison v. Target Corp.*, 429 S.C. 324, 372, 838 S.E.2d 18, 43 (Ct. App. 2020), *reh'g denied* (Feb. 20, 2020). In this case, the trial court appropriately found that "Aerotek failed to sufficiently plead facts supporting its claim for [attorney's fees] and put Plaintiff on proper notice of the basis for the attorneys' fees and costs [sought]." Put simply, Aerotek waived any entitlement to contractual attorneys' fees by failing to mention it in its pleadings or where appropriate in the course of litigation.³ Similar to the punitive damages limitation in *Garrison*, waiver is a fact issue and Aerotek's failure to plead its claim for contractual attorney's fees should be considered preclusive. *Provident Life and Accident Ins. Co. v. Driver*, 317 S.C. 471, 451 S.E.2d 924, 928 (Ct. App. 1994). ("Waiver is the voluntary and intentional relinquishment of a known right."); *Parker v. Parker*, 313 S.C. 482, 487, 443 S.E.2d 388, 391 (1994). ("Waiver is a question of fact for the finder of fact.").

³ Aerotek plead that it should receive attorney's fees in its prayer for relief, but never mentioned its contract. (R. p. 23). The trial court properly held that usage of "boilerplate" "is included in most pleadings filed with this Court" and that Aerotek's failure to reference the fee-shifting agreement in its Answer was preclusive. (R. p. 2).

Appellant now cites to *S.C. Elec. & Gas Co. v. Hartough*, a declaratory judgment action, to support its cause. *Hartough*, 375 S.C. 541, 654 S.E.2d 87 (Ct. App. 2007), (Appellant Brief p. 5). There are three obvious differences between *Hartough* and this case. In *Hartough*, the argument over whether SCE&G had to “specifically plead a contractual basis for the award of fees” was “not preserved for [] review.” *Hartough*, 654 S.E.2d at 92. Second, the enforceability of the contract with the fee-shifting provision in *Hartough* was the basis for SCE&G’s declaratory judgment action from the outset. *Id.* Last, on the issue of costs, the declaratory judgment act specifically provides for an award of costs where “equitable and just.” S.C. Code Ann. § 15-53-100; *Hartough*, 654 S.E.2d at 91 (Further, a trial court may award costs in declaratory judgment actions as “may seem equitable and just.”). *Hartough*, simply does not apply in this case where the problem of Aerotek’s failure to plead is preserved, where the fee-shifting contract was not at issue in this case, and where there is no statutory entitlement to costs or fees by either party.

The next cases cited by Aerotek involved a statutory or quasi-statutory entitlement to attorney’s fees and are even more obviously distinguishable. (Appellant Brief pp. 6-7); *citing*, *Utilities Const. Co., Inc. v. Wilson*, 321 S.C. 244, 468 S.E.2d 1 (Ct. App. 1996), *Calland v. Carr*, No. 14-0420, 2015 WL 4394977 (D.S.C. 2015), and *NGM Ins. Co. v. Carolina’s Power Wash & Painting, LLC*, No. 08-3378, 2010 WL 3258134 (D.S.C. 2019). S.C. Code Ann. § 41-1-70 does not provide for the recovery of attorney’s fees. The statutory mechanic’s lien and property disclosure act cases do not apply because they involve a statutory entitlement to attorney’s fees. *Wilson*, 321 S.C. 244 (mechanic’s lien case); *Calland*, 2015 WL 4394977 (property disclosure act). The *NGM* case is similarly distinguishable where it involved the defense of a federal declaratory judgment act claim and the prevailing defense conclusively established a breach of the duty to indemnify. *Owners Ins. Co. v. Warren Mech., LLC*, 324 F. Supp. 3d 650, 654 (D.S.C. 2018), *aff’d*, 773 F. App’x 714 (4th Cir. 2019); (Explaining *NGM, Ins. Co.*) (“This court found that the defendants were entitled to recover attorney’s fees because “[t]he

instant case is a declaratory judgment action, initiated by plaintiff in this court for the sole purpose of determining whether it was required to provide insurance coverage [] in the underlying action.”); *citing, NGM Ins. Co.*, 2010 WL 3258134. These cases have no substantive application to this case where there is no attorney’s fee statute in play and where Aerotek’s victory at trial did not establish a breach of contract by the Plaintiff.⁴

Aerotek last cites to the unpublished decision of this Court in *Baird v. Pac West* which was already distinguished. *Baird v. Pac West*, 2004 WL 6248287 (Ct. App. 2004); (Brief of Appellant at p. 7).⁵ The circuit court appropriately addressed and distinguished *Baird* on the basis that the “the Court of Appeals found that the waiver of attorneys’ fees had not occurred because the claim had been asserted in a Motion filed months before the hearing on that issue and opposing counsel did not object to the request for attorneys’ fees.” (R. p. 2). Here, Aerotek did not raise its electronic fee-shifting contract until after the case was over. The trial court appropriately rejected this ambush for failure to plead, and this court should, too.

“The award of attorney’s fees under a contract is left to the discretion of the trial court and will not be disturbed unless the court abused that discretion.” *JASDIP Properties SC, LLC*, 720 S.E.2d at 489 (Ct. App. 2011). The trial judge did not abuse his discretion in rejecting Aerotek’s request for \$211,815.60 in fees and costs where Aerotek never plead the existence of the “contract” underlying its request.

II. AEROTEK’S FAILURE TO AUTHENTICATE ITS ASSERTED FEE-SHIFTING AGREEMENT IS PRECLUSIVE.

⁴ *Calland* and *NGM Ins. Co.* are unpublished decisions by the District Court that are not directly involved in this case thus they are not appropriately cited or relied upon in the first place. Rule 268, SCACR (d)(2).

⁵ *Baird*, like *Calland* and *NGM*, is unpublished and has no precedential value. It’s also not appropriately cited or relied upon in this case according to Rule 268, SCACR (d)(2).

The circuit court also rejected Aerotek's claim for attorney's fees and costs because Aerotek failed to authenticate its fee-shifting agreement. (R. p. 3). The trial judge reasoned that the contract was never introduced as evidence and even though it was attached to an earlier memorandum in support of summary judgment, there was not an authenticating affidavit. (*Id.*) The court concluded that Aerotek had the burden to authenticate its fee-shifting contract once Ms. Gibbons challenged the authenticity of the electronic agreement in her affidavit and that Aerotek failed to carry that burden. (*Id.*).

“South Carolina cases prior to the enactment of the Uniform Commercial Code and the Uniform Commercial Code as enacted in South Carolina clearly hold that once the authenticity of a signature is placed in issue, the burden of proof as to the genuineness of the signature is on the party claiming under the signature.” *Pee Dee Prod. Credit Ass'n v. Joye*, 284 S.C. 371, 373, 326 S.E.2d 650, 652 (1984), *citing Citizens Bank of Darlington v. McDonald*, 202 S.C. 244, 24 S.E.2d 369 (1943). Ms. Gibbons swore in her affidavit before the trial court that she had no memory of signing Aerotek's electronic fee-shifting agreement. (R. p. 169, ¶¶ 4-6, 8). Aerotek took no steps to establish the authenticity of its electronic fee-shifting agreement in response.

Aerotek claims that it “authenticated” its fee-shifting contract because it attached the document to its memorandum for summary judgment for a separate purpose. (R. p. 39).⁶ Affixing a document to a summary judgment motion, for a separate purpose than is raised here, does not amount to authentication. *See, Deep Keel, LLC v. Atlantic Private Equity Group, LLC*, 413 S.C. 58, 64, 773 S.E.2d 607, 610 (Ct. App. 2015) *citing United States v. Hassan*, 742 F.3d 104, 133 (4th Cir. 2014) (“The burden to authenticate ... is not high’ and requires only that the proponent ‘offer [] a satisfactory foundation

⁶ Ironically enough, Aerotek successfully sought to keep a critical contract out of evidence at trial that it also attached to its memorandum in support of summary judgment on authentication grounds. (*See*, R pp. 37-38).

from which the jury could reasonably find that the evidence is authentic.”); and *State v. Green*, 427 S.C. 223, 230, 830 S.E.2d 711, 714 (Ct. App. 2019) (“The trial judge acts as the gatekeeper, and a party may open the gate by laying a foundation from which a **reasonable juror** could find the evidence is what the party claims” and “Once the trial court determines the prima facie showing has been met, the evidence is admitted and **the jury decides whether to accept the evidence as genuine** and, if so, what weight it carries.”). The fee-shifting agreement was never introduced at trial, and no foundation was otherwise laid that Ms. Gibbons electronically signed it.

Aerotek now makes a new argument that Ms. Gibbons testified that the agreement bore her signature (she did not) and that an unspecified affidavit of an HR Manager it proffered at the summary judgement stage authenticated the fee-shifting agreement (it does not). This is a brand-new argument on both fronts and is not preserved for appellate review. *Queen’s Grant II Horizontal Prop. Regime v. Greenwood Dev. Corp.*, 368 S.C. 342, 372, 628 S.E.2d 902, 919 (Ct. App. 2006) (“In order for an issue to be properly preserved for appeal, it must have been both raised to and ruled upon by the trial court.”). Nevertheless, Ms. Gibbons deposition testimony (not raised at the hearing below) simply does not say what Aerotek claims it says. On the two pages cited by Aerotek, Aerotek’s lawyer claims in his questioning that the agreement bears Ms. Gibbons’ electronic signature, but he never asks Ms. Gibbons if she remembers the document or electronically signing it. (R. pp. 61-62, 17:4-18:25). Next, the HR Manager’s affidavit (not raised at the hearing below) does not establish that the affiant knows anything about the e-signature or is able to verify that it belongs to Ms. Gibbons.⁷

⁷ Typically, this is done through electronic logs, IP addresses, or an IT or HR employee’s affidavit based on knowledge of their companies’ intranet and network mechanisms. See, *Gordon v. TBC Retail Grp., Inc.*, No. 2:14-CV-03365-DCN, 2016 WL 4247738, at *7 (D.S.C. Aug. 11, 2016) (Finding authentication was made where an HR employee swore an affidavit stating that an arbitration agreement was signed through an employee-only portal, using a specific employee number, with screenshots saved which detailed the process.). This unpublished district court case is used based on the lack of governing authority on point.

Aerotek next incorrectly challenges the nature of Ms. Gibbons' denial of the affidavit based on *J.B. Colt Co. v. Robinson*, 137 S.C. 224, 135 S.E. 312 (1926) and *Gadberry v. Rental Servs. Corp.*, No. 09-3327, 2011 WL 766991 (D.S.C. 2011). (Brief of Appellant p. 12). In those cases, in contradiction to a statement by the alleged signatory that they did not remember a contract, the party asserting the contract provided affirmative evidence satisfying the low burden of authenticity. *Id.* The affirmative evidence included expert testimony, admissions that the alleged signing party recognized her own handwriting on the document, and testimony from eyewitnesses to the signings. *Id.* This case is not comparable. No such evidence has been proffered by Aerotek nor was any such evidence provided to the trial court.⁸

Last, Aerotek claims that the trial court raised the issue of authentication *sua sponte* and that it is entitled to another chance to establish authentication as a result. Yet, Ms. Gibbons' affidavit denying the authenticity of the fee-shifting agreement was filed on March 6, 2020. (R. pp. 169-171). The hearing was not held until April 27, 2020. Indeed, Aerotek filed a 13-page reply memorandum on April 24, 2020 that acknowledged that Ms. Gibbons had denied recollection of the fee-shifting agreement but never attempted to authenticate the agreement in response. (R. pp. 237-238). Aerotek had a fair opportunity to attempt to authenticate its fee-shifting agreement before the trial court, but it failed to do so. It is not entitled to a second bite at the apple.

Aerotek's final argument is also unpreserved. *Greenwood Dev. Corp.*, 628 S.E.2d 902, 919 ("Error preservation principles are intended to enable the trial court to rule after it has considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments."). Assuming arguendo that Aerotek could not have raised this argument at or before the hearing, Aerotek filed no motion to reconsider. Rule 59, SCRCP. Aerotek could have and should have raised it in a motion to reconsider. *Anderson Cty. v. Preston*, 427 S.C. 529, 541, 831

⁸ As with the arguments about Ms. Gibbons deposition testimony and the HR affidavit, this argument was not raised to the trial court and is not preserved.

S.E.2d 911, 917 (2019) (“Rule 59(e) motion was the proper means to raise an argument that was not raised earlier that first became relevant in response to the initial judgment on appeal); *Thornton v. Thornton*, 428 S.C. 460, 476, 836 S.E.2d 351, 359 (Ct. App. 2019) (“However, Wife neither raised these arguments to the family court at the hearing nor in her Rule 59(e), SCRCP, motion. Thus, we find these arguments are not preserved for this court’s review.”).

Aerotek did not authenticate its fee-shifting agreement and the trial judge properly determined that Aerotek’s failure to authenticate was fatal. Aerotek’s several new arguments to the contrary are neither preserved nor persuasive.

III. ADDITIONAL SUSTAINING GROUNDS EXIST FOR THE COURT TO AFFIRM THE LOWER COURT’S RULING.

Ms. Gibbons raises five additional sustaining grounds, raised below, upon which this Court can affirm the Lower Court’s decision. Rule 220(c), SCACR (“The appellate court may affirm any ruling, order, decision, or judgment upon any ground(s) appearing in the Record on Appeal.”). Each of the following arguments were specifically made to the circuit court and were acknowledged by the circuit court in its Order. (R. pp. 153-167).

A. The fee-shifting agreement is not supported by actual notice.

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